STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

RECEIVED
FEB 26 2021
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001477
Richland County Case No.: 2020-CP-40-01902

Paige M. Easley a/k/a Paige Easley and Macrina Easley.....Respondents

v.

Ann Easley a/k/a Ann Bryant.....Appellant

APPELLANT'S BRIEF REGARDING IMMEDIATE APPEALABILITY OF
ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO SEAL

Appellant Ann Easley Bryant does submit Appellant's
Brief Regarding Immediate Appealability of Order Granting
Motion to Seal. Although no correspondence from the Court
was received requesting this Brief, Appellant is informed

QUESTION OF TIME AND DELAY

The Appellant requests that the Appellate Court accept her Brief regarding the appealability of the Motion to Seal at this late date.. She requests that the Court accepts this Brief in the interests of justice in accordance with SCRCF 15(a)"...when justice so requires."

The Appellant along with her husband has had to live in a camper for months while trying to attend to legal issues on both coasts of the country. Often times there has not been enough money to cover the bare necessities of food and gasoline, or even money for stamps to mail a letter.

Date: February 24, 2021

Signed: Ann Easley Bryant
Ann Easley Bryant

EXHIBIT 1

daughter, Laurena Camila Easley ("L. Easley"), who does not reside with them and is in the custody and control of others. Despite their falsity, these allegations have a tendency to damage Plaintiffs' reputation, cause them embarrassment, humiliation, and other mental suffering. Also, leaving the documents and filing unsealed are likely to affect P. Easley's employment and his ability to make a living in the future as will be more fully explained at the hearing on this Motion. Unfortunately, there are no other alternatives to sealing the aforesaid documents as they are essential to Plaintiffs' case and the crux thereof. Redaction is also not available as the documents are replete with the allegations at issue. Without the documents and their contents, Plaintiffs' will be deprived of an opportunity to bring their case forward and are an essential tool needed to prosecute the same.

Concerning the factors set forth in Rule 41.1, Plaintiffs asset the following:

- 1) Sealing of the documents is needed to insure a fair trial so that the public and potential jurors will not be tainted by the false and outrageous allegations contained in the documents prior to a trial;
- 2) The need for witness cooperation factor is not relevant in this matter as the witnesses known to Plaintiffs are willing to testify even if the documents are left unsealed;
- 3) Plaintiffs expect the documents to be and remain confidential to the extent they can based on their offensive, outrageous and false nature;
- 4) There is little public significance of the lawsuit, but the documents and the allegations therein, if they are further published by being kept unsealed, have a high likelihood of damaging P. Easley's ability keep his employment and find employment in the future;
- 5) The disclosure of the documents have a high likelihood of harming Plaintiffs' in the form of embarrassment, public humiliation, and harm to their private and public reputations;
- 6) The documents that Plaintiffs seek to file are replete with the allegations at issue and redaction of the documents are not practical, and, as a result, there are no other alternatives; and

1 GARY T. YANCEY, District Attorney
2 Contra Costa County
3 Kirk Andrus, Deputy District Attorney
4 Bar No. 183756
5 Court House, Fourth Floor, Room 402
6 725 Court Street; P.O. Box 670
7 Martinez, California 94553-0150
8 Telephone: (925) 646-4500

9 Attorneys for Plaintiff

FILED

2001 JAN 29 P 3:33

BY: *[Signature]*
M. Correse, Deputy Clerk

10
11 **IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**
12 **IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA**

13 * * * * *

14 THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

15 Plaintiff,

16 v.

17 **PAIGE EASLEY,**

18 Defendant./

NO. 010151-9
DA No. X 00 000182-6
INDICTMENT
01) PC 243.4(a)
02) PC 289(a)(1)
03) PC 236/PC 237
04) PC 243.4(a)
05) PC 288a(2)/664
06) PC 209(b)(1)
07) PC 220

19 The Grand Jury of the County of Contra Costa hereby accuses

20 **PAIGE EASLEY**, Defendant, of the crime of felony, a violation of California Penal Code
21 section 243.4(a) (Sexual Battery by Restraint), committed as follows:

22 On or about May 14, 1999, at Danville, in Contra Costa County, State of
23 California, the Defendant, **PAIGE EASLEY**, for the purpose of sexual arousal, sexual
24 gratification, and sexual abuse, did unlawfully touch an intimate part of Jane Doe, who was
25 restrained by the Defendant and an accomplice, and the touching was against the will of
26 Jane Doe.

27 **COUNT TWO:**

28 The Grand Jury of the County of Contra Costa further accuses

PAIGE EASLEY, Defendant, of the crime of felony, a violation of California Penal Code
section 289(a)(1) (Forcible Foreign Object Genital Penetration), committed as follows

On or about May 14, 1999, at Danville, in Contra Costa County, State of California,

1 the Defendant, **PAIGE EASLEY**, by force, violence, duress, menace, and fear of immediate
2 and unlawful bodily injury on Jane Doe and another person, and for the purpose of sexual
3 arousal, gratification, and abuse, did unlawfully cause non-consensual penetration by a
4 foreign object, substance, instrument, device, and by an unknown object, of the genital
5 opening of Jane Doe.

6 **COUNT THREE:**

7 The Grand Jury of the County of Contra Costa further accuses
8 **PAIGE EASLEY**, Defendant, of the crime of felony, a violation of California Penal Code
9 section 236/237 (False Imprisonment by Violence), committed as follows:

10 On or about May 14, 1999, at Danville, in Contra Costa County, State of
11 California, the Defendant, **PAIGE EASLEY**, by means of violence, menace, fraud, and
12 deceit, did unlawfully violate the personal liberty of Jane doe.

13 **COUNT FOUR:**

14 The Grand Jury of the County of Contra Costa further accuses
15 **PAIGE EASLEY**, Defendant, of the crime of felony, a violation of California Penal Code
16 section 243.4(a) (Sexual Battery by Restraint), committed as follows:

17 On or about May 14, 1999, at Danville, in Contra Costa County, State of
18 California, the Defendant, **PAIGE EASLEY**, for the purpose of sexual arousal, sexual
19 gratification, and sexual abuse, did unlawfully touch an intimate part of Jane Doe, who was
20 restrained by the Defendant, and the touching was against the will of Jane Doe.

21 **COUNT FIVE:**

22 The Grand Jury of the County of Contra Costa further accuses
23 **PAIGE EASLEY**, Defendant, of the crime of felony, a violation of California Penal Code
24 section 288a(2)/664 (Attempted Forcible Oral Copulation), committed as follows:

25 On or about May 14, 1999, at Danville, in Contra Costa County, State of
26 California, the Defendant, **PAIGE EASLEY**, by force, violence, duress, menace, and fear of
27 immediate and unlawful bodily injury to the victim, did unlawfully attempt to participate in an
28 act of oral copulation with and against the will of Jane Doe.

AP/EHD
S A O

Superior Court of California, County of Contra Costa
FELONY ORDE OF PROBATION

CONCORD MARTINEZ PITTSBURG RICHMOND WALNUT CREEK

DEFENDANT PAIGE EASLEY DOCKET NO. 01-111945-2 DEPT: 4
The above named defendant having been convicted in this court of the offense(s) of violation PC 243.4

IT IS ORDERED THAT: imposition execution of sentence be suspended during period of probation with the following terms and conditions:

TERMS OF PROBATION: (Applicable Items Checked):

- 1. STATE PRISON - EXECUTION SUSPENDED - Fixed Term of: _____ yrs/months California Department of Corrections.
 - FORMAL PROBATION GRANTED: Conditional and revocable release in community with Probation supervision except as specified by the Court.
 - COURT PROBATION GRANTED: Conditional and revocable release in community without Probation supervision except as specified by the court.
- For a period of 3 months/yr from the date of this order.
- STANDARD TERMS (see reverse for standard terms and additional instructions)
 - REVIEW DATE: _____
 - Defendant must appear in Court.
 - Defendant need not appear unless directed by DPO.

JAIL/FINE/VOLUNTEER WORK/ RESTITUTION

- 3. Be IMPRISONED 180 hrs / days / months
- 6 hrs / days / months credit.
- _____ hrs / days / months suspended.
- Sentence to commence _____.
- Serve consecutive / concurrent with _____
 any imposed sentence.
- Other _____
- Main Jail Work Alternative Program in Long Beach
- Electronic Home Detention in _____ County allowed.
- Contact Custody Alternative Bureau (CAB) within 15 days
- Remain in custody in the Contra Costa County Jail pending possible release by the Probation Officer to a residential treatment program and balance of remaining jail sentence be suspended.
- Day for day No credit for time served in approved residential program unless successfully completed.
- OTHER: _____

- 4. Pay a FINE of \$ _____
- Pay RESTITUTION FINE of \$ 200
- Make monthly installments to Court Collections & Compliance Unit, Complete payments by _____.
- Pay to Clerk of Court by _____
- Probation to terminate upon payment of fine/completion of jail sent.
- _____ days jail concurrent / consecutive in lieu of fine.
- OTHER: _____

- 5. Perform _____ hrs VOLUNTEER COMMUNITY SERVICE
- In lieu of fine OTHER: _____
- Show proof of completion to Court or DPO by _____

- 6. Make RESTITUTION of \$ _____ to _____
- Make RESTITUTION as determined by the Probation Officer.
- Show proof of restitution to Court or DPO by mediated amt
- Honor any civil judgments as a result of this conviction.
- OTHER: _____

- 7. Submit your person, place of residence, storage locker or any vehicle under your control to search and seizure at any time of day or night, with or without warrant, to any peace officer.
- for alcoholic beverages _____

- 8. Not use or possess any dangerous drugs, narcotics or narcotic paraphernalia without prescription.

- 9. Not have checking or charge accounts, or possess, control or have custody of checks/credit cards except checks payable to you.
- 10. Do not own or possess or control any firearm or weapon.
- 11. Weapon ordered confiscated destroyed returned to _____
- 12. Do not annoy/harass/threaten/contact _____
- 13. Contact Probation Officer within 5 (five) days.
- 14. Cost of Probation \$ 50.00
- 15. Abstain from the use of alcoholic beverages.
- 16. Submit to drug/alcohol detection tests as directed by DPO or any peace officer and pay costs not to exceed \$10.00 _____
- 17. Not go places where alcoholic beverages are the chief item of sale.
- 18. Pay a laboratory analysis fee (H&S 11372.5) of \$ _____ and a drug education fee (H&S 11372.7) of \$ _____.
- 19. Not associate with _____ or with any individuals designated in writing by the Probation Officer.

PROGRAM TERMS

- 20. Register per H&S 11590 PC 457.1 PC 290
- 21. Submit to all tests and pay all fees as directed by DPO.
- 22a. Report to Post Conviction Drinking Driver's Program within 10 days and comply with its rules and fee requirements.
- 22b. Attend Domestic Violence Program.
- 23. Participate in counseling as directed by the Probation Officer and not leave or terminate program without permission.

24. OTHER: Not possess pornography

DRIVING TERMS

- 25. Driving privilege restricted for _____ to / during / from: Employment, treatment program School
- 26. Driving privilege suspended / revoked for _____
- 27. Not drive a motor vehicle unless properly licensed and insured.
- 28. Not drive vehicle with any measurable alcohol in blood.
- 29. If arrested for a violation of 23152 or 23153 CVC, not refuse a chemical test for the detection of alcohol.

ADDITIONAL TERMS

No contact with victim
Blood Saliva, palm 296 PC
HIV testing 1202.1 PC

Although not a condition of Probation, you are ordered to pay the following fees: \$25 Booking \$10 Cite CJA \$ _____
 Other fees \$ _____ Cost of Probation \$ _____ month

I HAVE READ AND RECEIVED A COPY OF THESE CONDITIONS OF PROBATION AND I UNDERSTAND AND AGREE TO PERFORM THEM AND UNDERSTAND THAT IF I FAIL TO DO SO, MY PROBATION MAY BE REVOKED AND I MAY BE SENTENCED TO JAIL OR SENTENCED AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED BY LAW.

DEFENDANT'S SIGNATURE [Signature]
SOC. SEC. # _____ DOB _____
ADDRESS _____
CITY _____ ZIP _____
HOME PH. _____ MSG. PH. 370 308-4112

COMMITMENT: TO THE SHERIFF: I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE COPY OF THE ENTRY OF JUDGMENT OR ORDER AND IS YOUR AUTHORITY FOR THE EXECUTION THEREOF.
Manly O'Malley 1-31-01
JUDGE DATED

RECEIVED
FEB 26 2021
SC Court of Appeals

February 21, 2021

Ann Easley Bryant
P. O. Box 1782
Columbus, NM 88029
Ph. 575.551-0208

The Honorable Jenny Abbett Kitchings
South Carolina Court of Appeals
1220 Senate Street
Columbia, SC 29201

RE: Paige M. Easley a/k/a Paige Easley and Macrina Easley v.
Ann Easley Bryant

Appellate Case No.: 2020-001477
Case No. 2020-CP-40-01902

Dear Ms. Kitchings,

Please find enclosed a copy of the Appellant's Brief regarding Immediate Appealability of Order Granting Motion to Seal. Would you please file the same.

By copy of this letter, I am serving Taylor Peace, attorney for Paige & Macrina Easley a copy of the enclosed Brief.

Thank you for your time and attention.

Sincerely,