STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

DEC 29 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2020-001477  
Richland County Case No.: 2020-CP-40-01902

Paige M. Easley a/k/a Paige Easley and Macrina Easley.....Respondents

v.

Ann Easley a/k/a Ann Bryant.....Appellant

**RESPONDENTS' BRIEF REGARDING IMMEDIATE APPEALABILITY OF  
ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO SEAL**

Respondents Paige M. Easley a/k/a Paige Easley and Macrina Easley (“Respondents”) submit Respondents Brief Regarding Immediate Appealability of Order Granting Motion to Seal as requested by the Court in correspondence dated December 15, 2020.

### **ARGUMENT**

In its correspondence dated December 15, 2020, the Court asked Appellant and Respondents to address the immediate appealability of the Order to Seal. For the reasons below, the Order to Seal is not immediately appealable and Appellant's appeal should be dismissed.

#### **I. The judgment or order subject of the appeal must be final**

Under Article V, §5 of the South Carolina Constitution, "The Supreme Court...shall have appellate jurisdiction only in cases in equity, and in such appeals, they shall review the findings of fact as well as the law, except in cases where the facts are settled by a jury and the verdict not set aside. The Supreme Court shall constitute a court for the correction of errors at law under such regulations as the General Assembly may prescribe." S.C. Const. art. V, §5

The statutory basis for the South Carolina Supreme Court's appellate jurisdiction for correction of errors in law cases is found in S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330 (1976), as amended, which provides,

"The Supreme Court shall have appellate jurisdiction for correction of errors in law cases, and shall review upon appeal:

- (1) Any intermediate judgment, order or decree involving the merits in actions commenced in the court of common pleas and general sessions, brought there by original process or removed there from any inferior court or jurisdiction, and final judgments in such actions; provided, that if no appeal be taken until judgment is entered the court may upon appeal from such final judgment review any intermediate order or decree necessarily affecting the judgment not before appealed from;
- (2) An order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action, (b) grants or refuses a new trial or (c) strikes out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading in an action;
- (3) A final order affecting a substantial right made in any special proceeding or upon a summary application in any action after judgment; and

- (4) An interlocutory order or decree in a court of common pleas granting, continuing, modifying or refusing an injunction or granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing the appointment of a receiver.” S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330 (1976), as amended.

In general, an order and/or judgment must be final and not interlocutory to be immediately appealable. Hagood v. Sommerville, 362 S.C. 191, 196, 607 S.E. 2d 707, 709 (“An order which does not finally end a case and prevent a final judgment from which a party may seek appellate review is considered an interlocutory order from which no immediate appeal is allowed.”) (internal citations omitted.) In making a determination of whether an order or judgment is interlocutory or final, the South Carolina Supreme Court has stated that an order is interlocutory and not appealable if there is some further act that must be done by the court prior to a determination of the rights of the parties. Mid-State Distributors v. Century Importers, Inc., 310 S.C. 330, 426 S.E. 2d 777 (1993) In contrast, a final judgment must

“dispose of the cause or a distinct branch thereof, as to all the parties reserving no further questions or directions for future determination. It must finally dispose of the whole subject-matter or be a termination of the particular proceedings or action, leaving nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined. In other words, a final judgment is one which operates to divest some right in such a manner as to put it beyond the power of the court making the order to place the parties in their original condition after the expiration of the term; that is, it must put the case out of the court, and must be final in all matters within the pleadings.” Good v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co., 201 S.C. 32, 41-42, 21 S.E. 2d 209, 212 (1942) (internal citations omitted).

The South Carolina Court of Appeals has the same jurisdiction limits as the South Carolina Supreme Court as noted in S.C. Code Ann. §14-8-200(a) (1976), as amended, which states, “...the court has jurisdiction over any case in which an appeal is taken from an order judgment, or decree of the circuit court....This jurisdiction is appellate only, and the court shall apply the same scope

of review that the Supreme Court would apply in a similar case.” S.C. Code Ann. §14-8-200 (a) (1976), as amended.

Even though the general rule is that the judgment must be final, an order may be interlocutory and immediately appealable in certain circumstances. Woodward v. Westvaco Corp., 319 S.C. 240, 460 S.E. 2d 392 (1995).

## **II. The judgment that is not final may be appealed in certain limited and specific circumstances**

As identified in S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330 (1976), as amended, an order may be immediately appealable “if it involves the merits....; provided, that if no appeal be taken until final judgment is entered the court may upon appeal from such final judgment review any intermediate order or decree necessarily affecting the judgment not appealed from.” S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330 (1976), as amended. South Carolina law has determined that, an order which “involves the merits” is one that “must finally determine some substantial matter forming the whole or a part of some cause of action for defense.” Mid-State Distrib., 310 S.C. 330, 426 S.E. 2d 777 (1993).

An interlocutory order may also be immediately appealable if it would discontinue an action, prevent an appeal, grant or refuse a new trial, or strike out an action or defense. Id. However, it is worth noting that this section has generally been used when the order affected the “mode of trial” because if those orders are not immediately appealed, no appellate review is available to correct any error. Breland v. Love Chevrolet Olds. Inc., 339 SC 89, 93, 529 S.E. 2d 11, 13 (2000) (citing Creed v. Stokes, 285 S.C. 542, 331 S.E. 2d 351 (1985)). The aforesaid notwithstanding, it has been used in other matters as set forth below.

The third and fourth category for interlocutory orders that may be immediately appealable concern a final order affecting a substantial right in any special proceeding or upon a summary

application in any action after judgment and an interlocutory order or decree in the court of common pleas granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing an injunction. See S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330 (1976), as amended.

**III. While an order unsealing a file is immediately appealable, an order to seal a file appears unsettled**

While Respondents' counsel has not been able to find any South Carolina case on point, the South Carolina Supreme Court did take up the issue of unsealing family court documents in the case of Ex-parte Capital U-Drive-It, Inc. 369 S.C. 1, 630 S.E. 2d 464 (2006).

In that case, the South Carolina Supreme Court determined, among other things, that an order unsealing records in a family court matter is immediately appealable. Id. Specifically, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that, “[t]he right of appeal arises from and is controlled by statutory law.” Id. 369 S.C. at 6, 630 S.E. 2d 464, 467 (2006) (citing N.C. Fed. Sav. and Loan Assn. v. Twin States Dev. Corp., 289 S.C. 480, 347 S.E. 2d 97 (1986)). “An appeal ordinarily may be pursued only after a party obtains a final judgment.” Id. (citing Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc., 310 S.C. 335, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780-81 (1993); S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(1) (1976); Rule 72, SCRCF; Rule 201(a), SCACR.)). “Absent a specialized statute, an order must fall into one of several categories set forth in Section 14-330 in order to be immediately appealable.” Id. “An order ‘involves the merits’ ... and is immediately appealable when it finally determines some substantial matter forming the whole or part of some cause of action or defense.” Id. at 369 S.C. at 7, 630 S.E. 2d at 467. (internal citations omitted). “The phrase ‘involving the merits’ is narrowly construed in modern precedent.” Id. “An order usually will be deemed interlocutory and not immediately appealable when there is some further act that must be done by the trial court prior to a determination of the parties’ rights.” Id. 369 S.C. at 7, 630 S.E. 2d at 467-468. Important to this matter, the South Carolina Supreme Court found,

“...we agree with courts which have been inclined to find such an order immediately appealable because, after a court file is unsealed and the information released, no appellate remedy is likely to repair any damage done by an improper disclosure. Compelling a party that disputes an unsealing order to forgo an appeal until the conclusion of the underlying litigation would let the cat out of the bag, without any effective way of recapturing it if the district court’s directive was ultimately found to be erroneous.” Id. 369 S.C. at 8, 630 S.E. 2d at 468 (2006) (emphasis added).

In other words, an order granting a motion to unseal is immediately appealable because of the damage that might occur because of the improper disclosure.

While Ex-parte Capital U-Drive-It, Inc., is not directly on point, its reasoning is sound and applicable in this matter.

**IV. The Order to Seal is interlocutory, does not affect a substantial right, does not involve the merits, and, as a result, is not immediately appealable.**

When the law is applied to the to the Order to Seal, it is clear that it is interlocutory in nature, does not affect a substantial right, and, as a result, is not immediately appealable.

Initially, the Order to Seal is interlocutory as it does not end the case. (See **Exhibit 5**). There are other matters left to be decided. Also, the Order to Seal does not “involve the merits” considering the parties’ rights are not affected and no cause of action or defense was decided or ruled upon. (See **Exhibit 5**). It also does not determine the action or prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken nor does it discontinue the action. It further does not grant or refuse a new trial or strike out an answer or any part thereof or any pleading. Instead, the matters contained in the Order to Seal only determine what may be readily and easily accessed by the public and third parties through the Office of the Clerk of Court for Richland County. (See **Exhibit 5**). The public and other third parties will just have to take additional steps to view the same to include unsealing the records at issue.

The question that remains is whether the Order to Seal involves a substantial right. In Ex-parte, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that an order unsealing documents are immediately appealable because an appellate remedy is unlikely to repair the damage done by improper disclosure after the court's file is unsealed and information released. Id. The South Carolina Supreme Court also noted that other courts that have undertaken the question of whether an order to unseal documents is immediately appealable found that the usual method of reaching an appellate court is unavailable to a litigant when the court chooses to unseal its own records. Id.